
U.S. Department of Justice 
Bureau of Alcohol. Tobacco. Firearms and Explosives Report of Firearms Compliance Inspection 

TUMBLEWEED ENTERPRISES INC's FCI 

FCI-26818 

10/13/2022 01:47 PM 

IOI !_._.~b~(6 _, „Charlotte III (ID) Field Office 

LICENSEE INFORMATION 

TUMBLEWEED ENTERPRISES INC 1-56-12539 1-56-021-07-3L-12539 07 - Manufacturer of Firearms License 

Essi sue, T'pe 
Corporation 

Prenti es Cowaersbip Type T re:,. Address 
Owned 18 SUNSET DR, Unit N/A, 

ASHEVILLE, North Carolina 28806 
Preuuses Leation Type Required 

Single Family Dwelling 

Addtc*... 
18 SUNSET DR 
Unit N/A 
ASHEVILLE, North Carolina 28806 
BUNCOMBE 

United States 

18 SUNSET DR 
Unit N/A 
ASHEVILLE, North Carolina 28806 
BUNCOMBE 
United States 

i phone Numi,.:r aerl< 

Business +1 828-252-9487 

Fax +1828-258-0178 

is :e.: -Lse'.. . [instil Remarks 

nil/se 1 _,t „C., 'Its f)t,t ,eu2e I1 51 I. Rcutarla 

Website pfcustom.com 

RE,COMMENDATtONS 

Revocation 06/13/2022 

Re isils 

DIO Scena Web issued the Final Notice of Revocation on June 13, 2022. After tine FFL requested a stay of revocation to liquidate"" n".invento y, DIO Webb granted a stay with an 
effective date of revocation of August 15, 2022. FFL did not appeal the decition. License is revoked as of that date and FFLC has been ilotifed_ 

Out of Business Records and Inventory Management 

Licensee Records 

Submitted to the Federal Licensing Center 

Depot 4,sist ;ut Director- htdusiry Operations Hans HummeCs Reecnmtendetion 
Revocation 

et u is 

Concur with field recotmnendation. 

Licensee Inventory 

Inventory transferred to another licensee/permittee 

IP ete u, tat.riitory 7rt's ie'' 
09/14/2022 
Transferee 1ZD/ Key 
1-56-09180 
Luensee / l5uttttt .e
NORTH AMERICAN TRADE LLC 388 CANE CREEK RD, STE 22 

FLETCHER, NC 28732 Bu,i Y lv_ „ 

NAT LLC 
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~Ifrcadl A_eiu II, t tln)D.. 5 5 >a 1~rllo Uc tun und~itiou 

SAC concurs with Recommendation of Revocation 

Division Counsel! (b)(6) s Review 

IDetai(s' 

I will pursue revocation 

I) .. ) . Tu,l;isi. t o!> s,:, ~: ~i ~ieY%ie3s u1Iu's Ite I ll id
Revocation 

t1ra;,I 

Revocation recommended due to licensee's failre to run NICS after 30 days on a transfer. 

's .d dug_ a i:, s ._._(b)(6)._._;'s I? In irislatir_3~ 
Revocation 

lEt 'I. 

Concur with IOI (,Ib)(6J.-i' recommendation of Revocation 

udtr rt 6. - :aatoo tz. a r a_P P nr~ 
Revocation 

Indtrtsnv t7p utsen; iotvestigltor i._._._.Lb1(6Z._._._.i`Veroetmendation 
Warning Letter 

1)P 

Submitting to return 

Inspection Findings 

Firearms 

1. Missing firearms after inventory reconciliation (e.g., no records of disposition. required or otherwise). 

NICS 

6. Failure to initiate a new NICS check when a transaction is not completed within the 30-day period from the date NICS was initially contacted. 

ELIGIBILITY VERIFICATION 

Business Information Verification 

LL.11 .,I.I , lis a ), ibi 'aI hd,' 
TUMBLEWEED ENTERPRISES INC Corporation Yes 

Additiuuul funcdin..s 
Accurint database was queried to verify corporation validity. See attached. 

.tits, ulil_1'. 
Tumbleweed Corporation Report.pdf 

Property Ownership Verification 

Ttip>e 0_u ! c,ns. r,'I yp l[ s P. ge p' part) ownership been ceritied" 
Owned Single Family Dwelling Yes 

"3d ,
18 SUNSET DR 
Unit N/A 
ASHEVILLE, North Carolina 28806 
BUNCOMBE 
United States 

Mr. Flack, the RP does own the property and was verified with Accurint. 

Tumbleweed Property Report (Assessment & Deeds).pdf 

Trade Narne/DBA Verification 

I io'k, \. , )HA Is ili- ti I' I I I' 0II ". I.. cared 
PF CUSTOM GUNS Yes 

5_PsI ui., '. i u 9 ,. 
This DBA was not found in Accurint. NC State Assumed Business Name also found nothing. During the inspection. Mr. Flack submitted the proper paperwork to register with the 
County of Buncombe his Assumed Business Name. Sec attached. 
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Tumbleweed DBA Application form.pdf 

Zoning Information Verification 

I,cthc luupined ha in'tis leO itt i?a iii iii_ yaith
Yes 

a I Fiodines -.- .--
Buncombe County for zoning . _._ (b)(6) - _ ;confirmed there were no permits required and would be permissible according to their zoning regulations Contact name and number are 
attached. 

Contact Information 

Nnn.t lip I coil c"d 
06/14/2021 

County of Buncombe 

Zoning Administrator 

Phony Ivp P  Nwnhci It it ii 

Business +1 828-250-4830 Not direct number hit k5 and get duty person 

(b)(6) stated that there are no permits required according to their regulations for zoning 

APPOINTMENT DETAILS 

hat c, i ''' Li 
05/03/2021 

AJJucas 
18 SUNSET DR, Unit QUA, ASHEVILLE, North Carolina 28806 

Responsible Attendee(s) Non-Responsible Person(s) 

MARION PHIL FLACK (Deactivated) 

NL4RIONPIIIL FLACK 

<,e15'OI l2;iee
MARION PHIL FLACK Male 

ILL ii bird t tc lOb 
(b)(6) PRESIDENT 

Physical Identifiers 

tt'~u=lit u' C•h. r fllyr C 

Place of Birth 

ii i -coiN 
United States Of America (b)(6) 

Home Address 

b 6 
Additional Names 

_._._._._._._._._._._._. 

Citizenship 

United States 

ID Type Country State ID No Tibet 

Driver's License United States North Carolina L._. (b)(6)
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Phone Tvi'e Fhone Number Remarks 

Mobile 
 (b)(6)

I .a_;:aI tiC ,_ Entail Remarks 

-----(b)(6) ----i 
Criminal History Check 

Date t un e ~,p ti i a t t h.ecl, t r, idtrcrad 

03/22/2021 

(mina! liisd s I. bcch t_+,nnunis 
There were no results from the criminal history query. See attached. 

NON-RESPONSIBLE PERSON(S) 

l U t 

Gunsmith 

INTERVIEW QUESTIONNAIRE 

Licensee stated they buy and sell firearms and accessories. They have machine shop area to manufactu _ (b)(3)(26 USC § 6103) ._ ;in the past lie stated and they conduct gunsmith 
work. 

Goilx o1 id  od" ii. I fl i ii o6 P;:rereiJ 

No 

(b)(4)_._._._._._.f 

Business Activities 

(b)(3)(26 USC § 6103) 

Internet Sales/Transfers 

Retail 

Gunsmith 

Gun Show Participant 

Internet Sales/Transfers WVebsite 

pfeustom.com 

SUPPLEMENTAL QUESTIONNAIRE 

General Business Operations 

Cc iltrr rt a seiuo o  au:. vho Era. i. i.e Sr SIB ;ceurir: code ' 
Licensee stated people working here have access_ 

ho ba> I.epc to the ®remise:' 
People working there have keys. 

lalYto has keys to locked uiveutory ,
People working there have keys. 

atria the business one dot -ii I a oasis'! 
People working there have keys. 

it i uaoi d it In icVtun exr iidd I nnyQrne. ih ii u iwt .i responsible person on the license permit? 

(b)(6) io is being added as an RP now. 

1r~i s. r plr,p 1 ,a to. prohibite<I7 
No 

Are ao  ,Ioyeer asieciated with a pre ously denied ci eked cuniendri ed litsitiseJpeunit? 
No 

Its  0 C'r i ,xrI U  , i4lea,urle, 

Controlled Access to ATF Recordkeepvig 

Controlled Access to Keys 

Suspicious persons/activities reporting protocols 

Attach garage has display cases and firearms on racks. A side area conducts some gunsmith activities. The basement area has two offices that contain firearms and stored' paperwork 
and an open area with firearms. There are also a couple of out buildings that did not contain any records or firearm, but may be used for gun shows. 

I' ii ti  uvc - i uea l'i r , i coirro tI rrsou,as 
Retail 

Alarm Monitoring (with Cellular Back-Up) 

CPS Coordinates Bars on Doors 

Bars on Windows 

,{t a ii."c Deadbolts 

3536272 Floodlights 

Motion Seniors 
L.i wtf44auC8c 
-82.63736 Local Audible Alarm 

Safe(s)/Vault(s) 

Security Cameras 
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ONSITE SUMMARY 

ln(;.;I v'u €71Yo1' 1DE E ol; , ran l; Iuctlinnft z?;' 'd 

1ttut _bei -f ,AIF P U7_ It r`,w, 

~L~~tt~,.t_Vrunber of Open Dispositions in A & D Record 

Iotnl Namber of Firearms in Inventory 
936 

#cteuil Number of Fu cairns Verified 

Number of Firearms Missing Before Reconciliation 

total Number of Firearms Missinta After Reconciliation 

Tnt-al Nuotber of Acquisitions in the Last 12 Months 
`(b)(4) 

l i t umber of Dispositions in the Last 12 Months 

i~b)~41.i 

ties tie  Start Date Onsite End Date 

Number of Reported Lost Stolen Firearms During Inspection Period 

Total Number of Traces During Inspection Review Period 

Total Number of Those Traces That Were Unresolved 

Inspection Period Start Date 

Number 01 1 races Resolved B• i i I 

i (b)(3)(26 USC § 6103)

ATUlir ~:.'d ➢ii<;°,~ 
Yes 

(b)(3)(26 USC § 6103) 

Aoadiinevtll tt 
Report of Violations.pdf 

Report of Violations.pdf 

Report of Violations.pdf 

Licensee Response to Violations Report.pdf 

Firearm Theft Loss List.pdf 

REPORT OF VIOLATIONS 

a 

Inspection Period End Date 

Click Here to See List of Perfected Traces 

Regulation Corrective Actions Instance Details 

27 CFR 478.102(c): Failure to Execute and accurately record (on an ATF Form NICS Violation, 
initiate a new NICS check after 4473) a new NICS/POC background check, after NICS Violation; 
30-day lapse of initial check any 30-day expiration of a previously conducted 

NICS POD check, on all future over-the-counter 

ATF Forms 4473: 2 fucarm transactions. 

Number of Instances: 2 

27 CFR 478.126a: Failure to This is a repeat violation. 
report multiple sales or other Complete and submit ATE Form 3310.4 (Report (b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552),(b)(6) 
dispositions of pistols and of Multiple Sale or Other Disposition of Pistols 
revolvers and Revolvers) for all non-reported multiple 

sales identified as a result of this inspection. 

ATF Forms 4473: ' _ Complete and submit ATF Form 3310.4 (Report 
Number of Instances: ; _1 of Multiple Sale or Other Disposition of Pistols 

and Revolvers) by close of the same business 

day, for all applicable future multiple sales. 

27 CFR 478.21(a): Failure to This is a repeat violation. 
complete forms as prescribed Correct/Update photocopies of all specified ATE 

/ 
(b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552),(b)(6) 
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Fonn 4473 discrepancies, in accordance with 

ATF Forms 4473:j. j form headings and instructions. 

N°tuber°flnstan°e5: Ensure that al' ATF F°r 4473 iten's' a; 
(b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552),(b)(6) required by form headings and instruc tions, are 

accurately completed on all future transactions. 

Ensure that the most up-to-date version of the 

ATF Fonn 4473 is used for all future over-the- ----------------- - - ------------------------- - - ------------------------- - --------------------------- - -----------
counter transactions. 

(b)(3)(26 USC § 6103) (b)(3)(26 USC § 6103) 

-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-. 

(b)(3)(26 USC § 6103) 

27 CFR 478.123(b): Failure to This is a repeat violation. 
- - - -'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'--- - - -'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'--- - - -'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'--- - - -'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-' 

maintain an Accurately, completely & timely record all 
accurate/complete/timely licensee required future firearm disposition information. 
disposition record Complete and submit ATF Form 3310.11 - (b)(3) (112 Pub. L. 55 125 Stat 552) - per ATF 

Firearms Inventory Theft/Loss Report. 

Number of Instances; _. Amend/Update A&D Record to accurately 

record all required firearm disposition 
information. 

i.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-.-._'. 

27 CFR 478.123(d): Failure to Accurately, completely & timely record all 
maintain an required future firearm disposition information. 
accurate/complete/timely Complete and submit ATF Form 3310.11 -
nonlicensee disposition record Firearms Inventory Theft'Loss Report. 

Amend/Update A&D Record to accurately 
Number of instances:;._.- record all required firearm disposition 

information. 

(b)(3) (112 Pub. L. 55 125 Stat 552) - per ATF 
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(b)(3) (112 Pub. L. 55 125 Stat 552) - per ATF 

27 CFR 478.123(a): Failure to Accurately, completely & timely record all 
maintain an required future firearm acquisition information. 
accurate/complete/timely Amend/TJpdate A&D Record to accurately 
manufacture or acquisition record record all required firearm acquisition 

information. 

Number of Instances: L.3 
(b)(3) (112 Pub. L. 55 125 Stat 552) - per ATF 



(b)(3) (112 Pub. L. 55 125 Stat 552) - per ATF 

27 CFR 478.124(c) ): Failure to this is a repeat violation. 
-------------------------------------------------------------

obtain a completed ATF F 4473 Ensure that all required ATF Form 4473 Section 

A items are completed/provided by the 

ATF Forms 4473;_,_ transferee/buyer on all future transactions. _._ 
Number of Instances: Ensure that the transferee/buyer provides 

required signature and date, on ATF Form 4473 

Section C, for all transactions taking place on a 

date different from when Section A was 

certified. 

(b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552),(b)(6) 

77 CFR 478.124(c)(3)(i): Failure This is a repeat violation. 
to verify or record Identification Execute and retain a complete and accurate ATF 
document on ATF F 4473 Fonn 4473 on all future firearm transactions. 

Ensure that all required transferee/buyer 

ATF Forms 4473: J _ _ identification information is obtained and 
Nrunberoflnstances: . . accurately recorded on all future ATE Forms (b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552),(b)(6) 

4473, Section B. 

27 CFR 478.1 ?4(c)(3)(iv): This is a repeat violation. ----------- - ------------------------- - - ------------------------- - - ------------------------- - - ------------- -

Failure to record NICS contact Ensure that all required transferee/buyer (b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Statinformation on an ATF F 4473 identification information is obtained and 
accurately recorded on all future ATF Forms 

ATF Forms 4473:"1 4473, Section B. 
_._._._._._._._.

Number of Instances: Li 
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(b)(3)(26 USC § 6103) 

THEFT/LOSS REPORT 

Accurately, completely & timely record all 
required future firearm acquisition information. 

Accurately, completely & timely record all 

required future firearm disposition information. 

Amend/Update A&D Record to accurately 
record all required firearm acquisition 

information. 

Amend/Update A&D Record to accurately 
record all required firearm disposition 
information. 

(b)(3)(26 USC § 6103) 

Acquisition Date Type Manufacturer Importer Model Caliber/Gauge Serial Number 

(b)(3) (112 Pub. L. 55 125 Stat 552) - per ATF 

LICENSEE RESPONSE REPORT 

2 

3 

Regulation Corrective Actions Licensee Response Status Details 

27 CFR 478.102(c): Failure to initiate Execute and accurately record (on an ATF Form 4473) a new Licensee stated he didn't know what he a~iau~ 
a new NICS check after 30-day lapse NTCS/POC background check, after any 30-day expiration of a was supposed to do when the time Licensee Notified 
of initial check previously conducted NICSJPOC check, on all future over-the- expired. 

counter firearm transactions. 
-d tileuiod 

In Person 
ATF Forms 4473: 2 
Number of Instances: 2 I),=ae Lire:asre i'lotltie( P 

07/21/2021 

27 CFR 478.126a: Failure to report This is a repeat violation. Licensee stated he was aware of this Sn
multiple sales or other dispositions of Complete and submit ATF Form 3310.4 (Report of Multiple regulation and just missed one. It was Correction Verified 
pistols and revolvers Sale or Other Disposition of Pistols and Revolvers) for all non- submitted as required. 

reported multiple sales identified as a result of this inspection. `
P  e

` 
3 

In Person 
ATF Forms 4473L.J Complete and submit ATF Form 3310.4 (Report of Multiple 

Number of Instances:; ~ Sale or Other Disposition of Pistols and Revolvers) by close of Dan Coo erii, a 
the same business day, for all applicable future multiple sales. veriti d 

07/21/2021 

27 CFR 478.21(a): Failure to This is a repeat violation. Licensee stated he realizes that the gets Saass:: 

complete forms as prescribed Correct/Update photocopies of all specified ATE Form 4473 too busy at guns shows or in the shop Licensee Notified 

discrepancies, in accordance with form headings and and fails to double check that the forms 

A'1'F Forms 4473: L,_ '._ instructions. are complete. B 1~1etla,~,J 
In Person 

Number of Instances: i ~'. Ensure that all ATF Form 4473 items, as required by form 

headings and instructions, are accurately completed on all future t )ase i a s ivuu ie:0 

transactions. 07/21/2021 

Ensure that the most up-to-date version of the ATF Form 4473 
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is used for all future over-the-counter transactions. 

Correction Verified 

USC 6103) (b)(3)(26 USC § 6103) '~ert~filh,ethd (b)(3)(26 § hi Person 

_._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._._. (6)(3)(26 USC § 6103) ,(b)(6) D:ac (on'ecis'n 
eritizd 

07/21/2021 

27 CFR 478.123(b): Failure to This is a repeat violation. The licensee stated that he felt the
maintain an accurate/complete/timely Accurately, completely & timely record all required future books labeled TBD would be his Correction Verified 
licensee disposition record firearm disposition information. downfall. All corrections had been 

Complete and submit ATF Form 331 D.11 - Fixeanns Inventory In 
made. Yeofiii~d naefilso~l 

Person 
Number of Instances: i i Theft/Loss Report. 

Amend/Update A&D Record to accurately record all required l),Ite Con ect! ' 
firearm disposition information. Verified 

07/21/2021 

27 CFR 478.123(d): Failure to Accurately, completely & timely record all required future The licensee had recorded all of the Sv_au 
maintain an accurate/complete/timely firearm disposition information, disposition entries and stated that he Correction Verified 
nonlicensee disposition record Complete and submit ATE Form 3310.11 - Firearms Inventory will be timely from now on. 

Theft/Loss Report. 
V`eeilie<B lvleil-ua~,J 
In Person 

Number of Instances: Amend/Update A&D Record to accurately record all required 
firearm disposition information. Dace

07/21/2021 

27 CFR 478.123(a): Failure to Accurately, completely & timely record all required future The licensee recorded all of the Sg<<n s 
maintain an accurate/complete/timely firearm acquisition information, firearms listed in his A & D record and Correction Verified 
manufacture or acquisition record Amend/Update A&D Record to accurately record all required did not have a reason why it happened. 

firearm acquisition information. 
\~'eritidt! P~6erlo, ~~l 
In Person 

Number of Instances: 
Date Corrcetir:fi'fi 
died 

07/21/2021 

27 CFR 478.124(c)(1): Failure to This is a repeat violation. The licensee stated he understood how yutnn 
obtain a completed ATF F 4473 Ensure that all required ATF Form 4473 Section A items are to make the corrections in the future by Licensee Notified 

completed/provided by the transferee/buyer on all future making a copy of the erroneous form 
-'- 

ATF Forms 4473:x._.. transactions. and make the changes to the copy if 
g

n Pe d '.U) it'd 
hi Person 

Number of Instances: i I Ensure that the transferee/buyer provides required signature and 
enecessary in the future. Also stated he 

date, on ATF Form 4473 Section C, for all transactions taking 
will try to be more careful at gun shows f , t, 1 . n :5

place on a date different from when Section A was certified, or when 
it's busy. 

07/21/2021 

27 CFR 478.124(c)(3)(i): Failure to 'this is a repeat violation. The licensee stated he understood how Sue/us 
verify or record Identification Execute and retain a complete and accurate ATF Form 4473 on to make the corrections in the future by Licensee Notified 
document on ATF F 4473 all future firearm transactions, making a copy of the erroneous form 

Ensure that all required transferee/buyer identification and f th make the changes to e copy i i \/efite<9 a,trs r,h 
In Person 

ATF Forms 4473;. re information is obtained and accurately recorded on all future necessary in the future. Also stated he 

Number of Instances :I i ATF Forms 4473, Section B. 
will try to be more careful at gun shows 

11 I I,I~_~~a, , N S ntiec9 
-.. or when it's busy. 

07/21/2021 

27 CFR 478.124(c)(3)(iv): Failure to This is a repeat violation. The licensee stated he understood how Siatiu' 
record NICS contact information on Ensure that all required transferee/buyer identification to make the corrections in the future by Licensee Notified 
an ATF F 4473 information is obtained and accurately recorded on all future making a copy of the erroneous form 

Vended Metla;~d 
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ATF Forms 4473 y 
Number of Instances: Li 

ATF Fonns 4473, Section B. and make the changes to the copy if 
necessary in the future. Also stated he 
will try to be more careful at gun shows 
or when it's busy. 

In Person 

I t!dr I ac t ..
07/21/2021 

Accurately, completely & timely record all required future The licensee stated the same response 

firearm acquisition information, as violation 478.123(a), (b) & (d) 

Accurately, completely & timely record all required future 
(b)(3)(26 USC § 6103) 'i firearm disposition information. 

Amend/Update A&D Record to accurately record all required 

11 ; firearm acquisition information. 

Atnend/Update A&D Record to accurately record all required 
firearm disposition information. 

CLOSING CONFERENCE 

Review Regulations conducted offline 

07/21/2021 

Aitnc8m~u~2~s~ 

Attendee(s) 

MARION PHIL FLACK 

Inspection 

Category Attachment Name 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Inspection Results 

Correspondence 

Correspondence DIO Stephen Albro Returned Inspection FCI-26818 

Correspondence DIO Stephen Albro Returned Inspection FCI-26818 

Correspondence 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RF: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence 

Correspondence DIO Scena Webb Returned Inspection FCI-26818 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence Spartan Notification RE: 1-56-12539 Monitored Case 

Correspondence DIO Stephen Albro Returned Tn,pection FCI-2681 8 

Correspondence 

WarningConferenceScheduleRetumEmail FW Phil Flack WC - Tentative Friday October 22nd. .pdf 

Correction Verified 

a 1 ~!,,,;~ 
In Person 

08/12/2021 
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Correspondence 

Correspondence Action required concerning your Federal Firearms License 

Correspondence 

Correspondence Action required concerning your Federal Firearms License 

Correspondence 

Correspondence Action required concerning your Federal Firearms License 

`VarningConferenceSchedulingLetter Scheduling Letter.pdf 

ReturnedSignedROV Tumbleweed Amended and signed ROV.pdf 

Correspondence Information Concerning Your Federal License/Permit 

Correspondence 

ViolationsPDF Report of Violations.pdf 

LicenseeResponseToViolationsPDF Licensee Response to Violations Report.pdf 

Correspondence Information Concerning Your Federal License/Permit 

Correspondence 

ViolationsPDF Report of Violations.pdf 

Correspondence Information Concerning Your Federal License/Permit 

Correspondence 

ViolationsPDF Report of Violations.pdf 

FirearmTheftLossList Firearm Theft Loss List.pdf 

TradeNameVerification Tumbleweed DBA Application form.pdf 

PropertyOwnershipVenfication Tumbleweed Property Report (Assessment & Deeds).pdf 

BusinessVcrification Tumbleweed Corporation Rcport.pdf 
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U.S. Department of Justice 
Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco. Firearms and Explosives 

In the matter of License Number 1-56-021-07-3L-12539 

Manufacturer of Firearms 

Name and Address of Licensee (S/row number. street cfgy State and ZIP Cade) 
Tumbleweed Enterprises Inc, dba PF Custom Guns 
18 Sunset Drive 
Asheville, NC 28806 

Notice Is Hereby Given That: 

Notice to Revoke or Suspend License and/or 
Impose a Civil Fine 

Pursuant to the statutory provisions and reasons stated in the attached page(s), the Director or his/her designee, 
Bureau of Alcohol. Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, intends to take action on the license described above. 

The above identified license may be revoked pursuant to I8 L'S C 923(e), 922(t)(5) or 924(p), 

L The above identified license maybe suspended pursuant to 18 t°.S.C_ 922(tXS) or 924(p) 

[1 The above identified licensee may be fined pursuant to 18 'LI.S C. 922(t)(5) or 924(p). 

. as atan 

issued to 

Pursuant to U.S.C. 923(f)(2) and/or 922(tX5), you may rile a request with the Director of industry Operations, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco. Firearms and 
Explosives, at yat ciitayPas ay tJ Sth4rIOOAILMIL ci&yrj3li  ,in duplicate, fora hearing to 
review the revocation, suspension and/or fine of your license The request must be received at the above address within IS days of your receipt of this notice. 
Where a timely request for a hearing is made, the license shall remain in effect pending the outcome of the hearing: and if the license is due to expire, the 
license will remain in effect provided a timely application for renewal is also filed The hearing will be held as provided in 27 CFR Part 478. 

If you do not request a hearing, or your request for a hearing is not received by ATF on time, a final notice of revocation, suspension, and/or imposition of 
civil fine (ATF Form 5300,13) shall be issued. 

Q Please see included brochure

Date Name and Title  of Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco. Firearms and Explosives Official 

02101/2022 Scene B. Webb. Director of Industry Operations • Atlanta Field Division 

I certify that on the date shown below I served the above notice on the person identified below by' 

Certified mail to the address shown below. El Delivering a copy of the notice to 
Tracking Number. FedEx # 775930360134 Or the address shown below. 

Date Notice Served Title of Person Serving Notice 

02/01/2022 Senor Operations Officer 

Print Name and Title of Person Served --

Address Where Notice Served 

iRn t ftcsan.Se ir~t~lotirc._._._._._._._. 

(b)(6) 

AiF E•Fo m 4500(3300.4) 
Revised Sepumber 2014 



Under the provisions of 18 U.S.C. * 923(e) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.73, notice is hereby given of the 
re\ocation of the Federal firearms, license specified aboxe. in that the Director, Industry 
Operations, United States Department of Justice, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and 
Explosikes ("ATF"'), Charlotte Field Division, has reason to believe that Tumbleweed 
Enterprises, Inc. (hereinafter Tumbleweed), 18 Sunset Drive, Asheville, North Carolina 28806, 
willfully violated the provisions of the Gun Control Act of 1968, as amended, 18 U.S.C. Chapter 
44, and the regulations issued thereunder, 27 C.F.R. Part 478. 

Compliance History 

In or about 2017, ATF issued a Federal Firearms License to Tumbleweed (FFL# 1-56-12539). 
Prior to the issuance the current license, the licensee's Responsible Person, Phil Flack, held a 
Federal Firearms License as a sole proprietor for more than thirty (30) years (hereinafter Prior 
License). ATF conducted compliance inspections of the Prior License in 1990, 1995, and 2010 
in which no violations were cited. 

In 2017, a compliance inspection of the Prior License resulted in licensee being cited for eleven 
(11) violations. ATF also discovered that the licensee had begun operating as a corporation 
several years earlier without obtaining a Federal Firearms License for the new entity. Industry 
Operations Investigators had the licensee submit a new FFL application for the corporation and 
assisted him in putting his sole proprietor license out of business. The 2017 inspection revealed 
multiple firearms in inventory with obliterated serial numbers. Licensee's Responsible Person, 
Phil Flack, attended a warning conference in lieu of revocation. 

Current Inspection 

In or about May 2021, ATF Industry Operations Investigator       (b)(s)-  _  _iconducted a 
compliance inspection of the licensee's premises. The inspection revealed the following: 

Licensee willfully failed in two (2) instances (forms I[(b)(3)(112 PubI is Law 55125 Stat 552) 1 
to initiate a new 

NICS background check for a transferee after 30 days had lapsed since aJprior NICS 
check was conducted in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(t) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.102(c). 

Date Transferee Error

1. 01/26/21 Failed to perform NICS check 
2. 09/09/20 ( ) ( ) Failed to perform NICS check 

2. Licensee willfully failed on j (b)(3 - --- ----- w55125 --------i 
occasions on ^ a P e «_-__ __ __ .! forms to ensure 

that the transferee correctly recorded the required information on the ATF Form 4473 in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(1)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.124(c)(1). 

Date Transferee Error 

(b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552),(b)(6) 



(b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552),(b)(6) 

3. Licensee willfully failed on _ _ occasions on p ssn forms to ensure that the ATF 
Form 4473 was complete and accurate as required prior to transferring a firearm in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(1)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.21 a. 

Date Transferee Error 

(b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552),(b)(6) 

THIS IS A REPEAT OF VIOLATION CITED IN 2017 WITH PRIOR LICENSE HELD 
BY TUMBLEWEED'S RESPONSIBLE PERSON. 

Licensee willfully failed in _ ;instances to timely and/or accurately record the 
disposition of firearms to a licensee in its Acquisition and Disposition Record in violation 
of 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(l)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.123(b). 

Firearm Serial No. Type Error 

(b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552) 

THIS IS A REPEAT OF VIOLATION CITED IN 2017 WITH PRIOR LICENSE HELD 
BY TUMBLEWEED'S RESPONSIBLE PERSON. 

5. Licensee willfully failed in :° _°_ ; _:_:_,' instance to timely and/or accurately record the 
disposition of firearms to a nonlicensee in its Acquisition and Disposition Record in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(1)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.123(d). See Appendix A. 



Licensee's ilifully failed in _3: __°°°°_°=°;==_15_° inNtance4 to tinmeJ} and/or accuratcl) record the 
Manufactru•e or acquisition of firearniw in its Acquisition and Disposition Record in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)( 1)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.123(a). 

Firearm Serial No. yT pe Error 

(b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552) 

6. Licensee willfully failed orE=a-''-'' ._._Y: occasion to report the multiple sales or other 
dispositions of pistols or revolvers in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(3)(A) and 27 C.F.R. 
§ 478.126a. 

(b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552),(b)(6) 

THIS IS A REPEAT OF VIOLATION CITED IN 2017 WITH PRIOR LICENSE HELD 
BY TUMBLEWEED'S RESPONSIBLE PERSON. 

7. Licensee willfully failed in °° °° ss °v°S- 'instances to verify and record identification 
documents on the ATF Form 4473 in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(1)(A) and 27 
C.F.R. § 478.124(c)(3)(i). 

Date Transferee Error 

(b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552),(b)(6) 



(b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552),(b)(6) 

THIS IS A REPEAT OF VIOLATION CITED IN 1017 WITH PRIOR LICENSE HELD 
BY TUMBLEWEED'S RESPONSIBLE PERSON. 

8. Licensee willfully failed in L:_:__ _ 1 instance to document NICS information on the ATF 
Form 4473 in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(I)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.124(c)(3)(iv). 

Date Transferee Error 

(b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552),(b)(6) 
THIS IS A REPEAT OF VIOLATION CITED IN 2017 WITH PRIOR LICENSE HELD 
BY TUMBLEWEED'S RESPONSIBLE PERSON. 



APPENDIX A 

Firearms Dispositions Not Li'tcd In A&D Book For Which Licensee Can Account 

MAKE SERIAL# NAME TRANSFER DATE 

(b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552),(b)(6) 



(b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552),(b)(6) 

Firearms Logged in For Which Licensee Cannot Account (Reported Missing) 

MAKE SERIAL # ACQUISITION DATE 

(b)(3) (112 Public Law 55 125 Stat 552) 

!`Licensee later stated that he had destroyed the weapon and declined to report it missing 



U.S. Department of Justice 
Bureau ofAlcohol, Tobacco. Firearms and Explosives Final Notice of Denial of Application, Revocation 

Suspension and/or Fine of Firearms License 

In the matter of: 

The application for license as alan filed by .

or 

License Number I -56-021-07-3L-12539 as a/an 

Manufacturer of Firearms Other Than Destructive Devices , issued to. 

Name and Address of Applicant or Licensee (Show number, sireef. citt, state and Zip Code) 
Tumbleweed Enterprises Inc. 
dba PF Custom Guns 

8 Sunset Drive 
Ashville, NC 28806 

Notice is Hereby Given That: 

A request for hearing pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 923(0(2) and/or 922(t)(5) was not timely filed Based on the findings set forth in the attached document, your 

license described above is revoked pursuant to 18 U.S.C., 923(e), 922(t)(5) or 924(p). effective: 

15 calendar days after receipt of this notice. or 

license is suspended for calendar days, effective 

licensee is fined $ , payment due: - . 

, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 922(t)(5) or 924(p) 

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 922(0(5) or 924(p) 

After due consideration following a hearing held pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 923(0(2) and/or 922(1)(5). and on the basis of findings set out in the attached copy of 
the findings and conclusions, the Director or his/her designee concludes that your 

application for license described above is denied, pursuant to 18 U.S.C., 923(d). 

application for renewal of license described above is denied pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 923(d). effective: 

15 calendar days after receipt of this notice, or 

E license described above is revoked pursuant to 18 U.S.C.. 923(c), 922(t)(5) or 924(p), effective: 

Q 15 calendar days after receipt of this notice, or 

license is suspended for calendar days, effective 

licensee is fined $ . payment due: 

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §922(t)(5) or 924(p) 

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 922(0(5) or 924(p) 

if, after the hearing and receipt of these findings, you are dissatisfied with this action you may, within 60 days after receipt of this notice, fi le a petition 
pursuant 18 U.S.C. § 923(0(3). for judicial review with the t S. District Court for the district in which you reside or have your principal place of business If you intend 
tr continue operations after the effective date of this action while %ou pursue filing for judicial review or otherwise, you must request a stay of the action from the Director of 

Industry Operations (D1O), Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, at 2635 Century Parkway NE. Suite 400, Atlanta, GA 30345 

prior to the effective date of the action set forth above. You may not continue licensed operations unless and until a stay is granted by the DIO. 

Records prescribed under 27 CFR Part 478 for the license described above shall either be delivered to ATF w ithin 30 days of the date the business is 
required to be discontinued or shall be documented to reflect delivery to a successor. Sec 18 U.S.C. 923(g)(4) and 27 CFR § 478.127. 

After the effective date of a license denial of renewal, revocation, or suspension, you may not lawfully engage in the business of dealing in firearms. 
Any disposition of your firearms business inventory must comply with all applicable laws and regulations. Your local ATF office is able to assist you in 
understanding and implementing the options available to lawfully dispose of your fi rearms business inventory. 

ATF Furm 5300 13 
Res iced September 2014 



Date Name and Title of Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives Official Si-e 
b 6 06/09'2022 Dr. Scena B Webb. Director, Industry Operations, Atlanta Field Division 

on 

Certified mail to the address shown below. 
Tracking Number: 777110764953 

on the person 

Date Notice Served I Title of Person Serving Notice 
6/13/2022 Senior Operations Officer 

Print Name and Title of Person Served 

Address Where Notice Served 

Note: Previous Edition is Obsolete 

Or O Delivering a cop) of the notice to 
the address shown below. 

(b)(6) 

ATF Form 5300 13 
Revised September 201 d 



Tumbleweed Enterprises, Inc., doing business as P.F. Custom Guns (Licensee), 18 Sunset Drive, 
Asheville, North Carolina, 28806, a Manufacturer, holds Federal firearms license # 1-56-021-07-
6A-85250 issued by the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (ATF) pursuant 
to the Gun Control Act of 1968 (GCA), as amended, 18 U.S.C. Chapter 44, and the regulations 
issued thereunder, 27 C.F.R. Part 478. 

On February 1, 2022, ATF issued a Notice of Revocation and/or Fines of License, ATF Form 
4500, to the Licensee via FedEx delivery. The Licensee timely requested a hearing to review 
that Notice. The hearing was scheduled for April 21, 2022 at the ATF Asheville Office. 

The hearing was conducted by ATF Director of Industry Operations (DIO) Scena B. Webb, 
Atlanta Field Division, siting by designation. ATF was represented by _Charlotte Division 
Counsel .-.-.-.-.-.(b)(6)._._._._._  ATF Industry Operations Investigatory _._._._._._ _._._._._._.(b)(s)_._._._._._._._._._._._._._. , 
and Area Supervisor[ (b)(6)  appeared as witnesses on behalf of the Government. The 
Sole Responsible Person, Marion Phillip Flack (Phil Flack), and (b)(6) attorney for 
Licensee, appeared at the hearing. The hearing was recorded and transcribed by the Government 
through a court reporter service. The Government offered testimony and exhibits. 

Findings of Fact 

Having reviewed the record in this proceeding, I make the following findings: 

At the hearing, ATF introduced evidence of a compliance inspection conducted by 
Investigator ''_-_-_-_-ei-- _-_-_' and others at the licensed premises M. Phil Flack doing 
business as PF Custom Guns on or about.September 19, 2017. Almost immediately after 
initiating the inspection, Investigato (91 learned that Phil Flack had begun operating as 
a corporate entity., Tumbleweed Enterprises, Inc., without having obtained a license to do 
so. InvestigatoL.L Li instructed Mr. Flack to cease all operations and complete an ATF 
Form 7 Application for a new license. Investigator(b)(s).; testified that he expedited the 
approval process, and a new Federal Firearms License was issued for the corporation 
within approximately seven business days. 

At the conclusion of the compliance inspection, Investigator (b)(6) prepared a Report of 
Violations citing M. Phil Flack doing business as PF Custom Guns with eleven (11) 
violations of the GCA and its regulations. Some of the violations cited included 
possession of firearms with obliterated serial numbers, failing to conduct FBI NICS 
checks on law enforcement officers, failing to report the multiple sales of handguns, _ _. 
instances of failing to timely record the acquisition and disposition of firearms, and other 
record-keeping violations. 

3. Investigator testified that the Report of Violations was reviewed and signed by 
Investigator (b)(6). and Phil Flack on December 11, 2017. See Government Exhibit 6. 

4. Investigator[(I )J testified that he reviewed GCA laws and regulations with Phil Flack 
after the conclusion of the compliance inspection. ATF introduced a signed 



Acknowledgement of Federal Firearms Regulations dated December 11, 2017 
demonstrating that ATF reviewed the legal requirements applicable to Licensee. See 
Government Exhibit 7. 

5. Investigator  testified that the compliance inspection resulted in an initial 
recommendation to initiate revocation proceedings. Instead of pursuing revocation, ATF 
conducted a warning conference with the Licensee on March 15, 2018. During the 
warning conference, Licensee provided ATF with a letter dated March 10, 2018 that 
addressed the violations and remedial actions taken to ensure future compliance. See 
Government Exhibit 8. 

6. Investigator ft')ts) testified that one of Licensee's voluntary remedial actionswas that it 
would conduct annual inventories of its firearms. He testified that ATF does not require 
Licensees to do inventories but doing so was a good business practice to accurately 
account for the acquisition and disposition of firearms. 

7. ATF issued a warning conference follow-up letter dated March 26, 2018 to Licensee. The 
letter addressed what occurred during warning conference and advised Licensee that 
future violations could be viewed as willful and result in revocation of the license. See 
Government Exhibit 9. 

8. Investigator .(b)(6)1 testified that after the compliance inspection but prior to the warning 
conference, he emailed Licensee a publication titled "Facilitating Private Sales: A Federal 
Firearms Licensee Guide". See Government Exhibits 15A, 15B and 15C. The publication 
addresses how licensees should comply with NICS requirements. 

9. Investigators. ( )(6U testified that occasionally ATF conducts education seminars for 
licensees (FFL Seminar). ATF invited Licensee to attend an FFL Seminar on May 23, 
2018. See Government Exhibit 10. Licensee responded that he and several of his 
employees would attend. See Government Exhibit 11. Investigator i ------- testified that he 
saw Phil Flack and at least two of his employees at the FFL Seminar on May 23, 2018. 

10. Investigator -(bX6) testified that Industry Operations Investigator-.-.-.-JJ .J (s).-.-.-.-.--4, who has 
since retired, presented a PowerPoint presentation on Gun Shows and Conduct of 
Business. The Conduct of Business portion of the PowerPoint addressed the topic of 
NICS and North Carolina. Specifically, the presentation advised Licensees that a NICS 
Check is valid for 30 calendar days from the date the check is initiated. See Government 
Exhibit 12. 

11. Industry Operations Investigator;_._._._._._.( b)(6)_._._._._._. I testified that she conducted a 
compliance inspection of Licensee's business premises on or about May 2nd or 3"d of 
2021. As a result of the inspection, Investigator L. (b)(6)._ cited Licensee with multiple 
violations of the GCA. 

12. As set forth in paragraph I of the Notice of Revocation, Licensee willfully failed in two 
(2) instances to initiate a new NICS background check for a transferee after 30 days had 



lapsed since a priorNiCS check was conducted in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(t) and 27 
C.F.R. § 478.102(c). The Government produced a sample Firearms Transaction Record, 
ATF Form 4473 that Investigator._(b)(s)_ used to indicate how she determined that 
Licensee committed the violation on two occasions. See Government Exhibit 12. When 
asked whether Licensee provided an explanation for the violation, Investigator [(b)(6) !,
testified that Licensee stated that he was unaware that it had to conduct another NICS 
check after 30 days. 

13. As set forth in paragraph 2 of the Notice of Revocation, Licensee willfully failed on 
` (b)(3)(112Public Law 5512551st 552)-) 

occasions on forms to ensure that the transferee correctly 
recorded the required information on the ATF Form 4473 in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 
923(g)(1)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.124(c)(1). During the hearing, the Government 
introduced testimony regarding two (2) of the thirty-three (33) violations. Counsel for the 
Government asked Counsel for Licensee if doing a representative sample of to support 
the violation as acceptable instead of having Investigator (b)(6) ;testify to all!
[ i instances. Counsel for Licensee agreed. 

14. As set forth in paragraph 3 of the Notice of Revocation, Licensee willfully failed one 
._.-_ occasions onL. :.:.::j forms to ensure that the ATF Form 4473 was complete and 
accurate as required prior to transferring a firearm in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 
923(g)(1)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.2 Ia. The Government introduced testimony to support 
each of the violations cited. Investigator;. (?)(!.j also testified that the violation was a 
repeated violation as cited by Investigator[ (b)(s) in 2017. Specifically, it was cited as 
violation #6 on the Report of Violations issued on December 11, 2017. See Government 
Exhibit 6. 

15. As set forth in paragraph 4 of the Notice of Revocation, Licensee willfully failed in Liii 
Li instances to timely and/or accurately record the disposition of firearms to a licensee in 
its Acquisition and Disposition Record in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(1)(A) and 27 
C.F.R. § 478.123(b). The Government introduced testimony and evidence to support each 
of the violations cited. See Government Exhibits 16A, 16B, and 16C. Investigator; (b)(6) 
also testified that the violation was a repeated violation as cited by Investigator .jbjf in 
2017. Specifically, it was cited as violation # 11 on the Report of Violations issued on 
December 11, 2017. See Government Exhibit 6. 

16. As set forth in paragraph 5 of the Notice of Revocation, Licensee willfully failed in-~='_
instances to timely and or accurately record the disposition of firearms to 

nonlicensee in its Acquisition and Disposition Record in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 
923(g)(1)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.123(d). Using Appendix A of the Notice of Revocation 
and copies of Licensee's A&D record, the Government introduced testimony and 
evidence regarding [::.::J _: of the 51=1:=_ _ : _wa_ ___.:= j violations. See Government Exhibits 1, 
17A, 17B, 17C, and 17D. 

17. As-set forth in paragraph 6 of the Notice of Revocation, Licensee willfully failed in 
....°_°__.55_=°:I instances to timely and/or accurately record the Manufacture or acquisition of 

firearms in its Acquisition and Disposition Record in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 



923(g)(1)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.123(a). The Government introduced testimony and 
evidence to support the violation cited in the Notice of Revocation. See Government 
Exhibits I 8A, 18B, and 18C. 

18. As set for in paragraph 7, as amended, of Notice of Revocation 1, failed ori : -_ _  _ j 
occasion to report the multiple sales or other dispositions of pistols or revolvers in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(3)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.126a. The Government 
introduced testimony and evidence to support the violation cited in the Notice of 
Revocation. See Government Exhibits 19 and 20. Investigator ._(b)(6) _ also testified that 
the violation was a repeated violation as cited by Investigator[(').6J in 2017. Specifically, 
it was cited as violation #5 on the Report of Violations issued on December 11, 2017. See 
Government Exhibit 6. 

19. As set forth in paragraph 8, as amended, of the Notice of Revocation, Licensee willfully 
failed in L_° ._ _:_ _ instances to verify and record identification documents on the ATF 
Form 4473 in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(1)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.124(c)(3)(i). 
The Government produced testimony to support the violation. Investigator [.( . 1i also 
testified that the violation was a repeated violation as cited by Investigator 1 (b)(s) in 2017. 
Specifically, it was cited as violation #8 on the Report of Violations issued on December 
11, 2017. See Government Exhibit 6. 

20. As set forth in paragraph 9, as amended, of the Notice of Revocation, Licensee willfully 
failed in one (1) instance to document NICS information on the ATF Form 4473 in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(1)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.124(c)(3)(iv). The 
Government produced testimony to support the violation. Investigator _.(bi(6)_. also 
testified that the violation was a repeated violation as cited by Investigator kbx6,j_ in 2017. 
Specifically, it was cited as violation # 10 on the Report of Violations issued on 
December 11, 2017. See Government Exhibit 6. 

21. Investigator L. I( >_ testified that by the conclusion of the compliance inspection, she had 
provided Licensee sufficient time to reconcile firearms missing from inventory for which 
there was no record of a disposition. Investigator _ _ _ _ _ determined that Licensee was 
unable to account for; °° _:_ _5P.:: firearms; however, Licensee only agreed to accept that 

firearms were missing from inventory even though Licensee could not verify 
disposition of the firearm. Licensee completed a theft/loss report fort _.. _-_-__ _ ;firearms. 
See Government Exhibit 14. 

22. Investigator 1. (b)(6) testified that she asked Phil Flack how and why the violations she 
cited occurred. Mr. Flack's responses were that he was very busy, did not take the time 
to double-check things, and was not unaware of some of his obligations. Investigator 
(b)(6)_ also testified that Mr. Flack advised that he had not conducted regular inventories. 

During the hearing, Counsel for Licensee noted that Government Exhibit 1, Notice of Revocation, contained two 
violations numbered as #6. Counsel for the Government acknowledged the error and verbally amended the Notice to 
change the numbering of the remaining violations cited. 



23. Area Supervisor (b)(6) ;testified for the Government. Supervisor ._.(b)(s)_. testified 
about the warning conference she held with Licensee on March 15, 2018 and the warning 
conference follow-up letter she mailed to him on March 26, 2022. See Government 
Exhibit 9. 

Conclusions of Law 

Pursuant to the GCA, ATF may, after notice and opportunity for hearing, revoke a Federal 
firearms license if the licensee has willfully violated any provision of the GCA or the regulations 
issued thereunder. 18 U.S.C. § 923(e); 27 C.F.R. § 478.73. For purposes of 18 U.S.C. § 923, a 
"willful" violation occurs when the Licensee had knowledge of the GCA and either purposefully 
disregards the requirements or is plainly indifferent to them. American Arms, Int 'l v. Herbert, 
563 F.3d 78, 85 (4th Cir. 2009); CEWProps v. United States DOJ, 979 F.3d 1271,1279 (loth Cir. 
2020); Simpson v. AG United States, 913 F.3d.110, 114 (3d Cir, 2019); The General Store v. 
Van Loan, 560 F.3d 920, 924 (9th Cir. 2009); Armalite, Inc. v. Lambert, 544 F.3d 644, 648 (6th 
Cir. 2008); On Target Sporting Goods, Inc. v. Attorney General, 472 F.3d 572 (8th Cir. 2007); 
Article II Gun Shop, Inc. v. Gonzales, 441 F.3d 492 (7th Cir. 2006); Willingham Sports, Inc. v. 
BATF, 415 F.3d 1274 (111h Cir. 2005). See also, Bryan v. United States, 524 U.S. 184, 197-198 
(1998). In several instances, the courts have held that ATF may revoke a FFL based on a single 
willful GCA violation. Fairmount Cash Mgmt., L.LC. v. James, 858 F. 3d 356, 362 (5th Cir, 
2017); American Arms, Int'l v. Herbert, 563 F.3d at 86; DiMartino v. Buckles, 129 F. Supp. 2d 
824, 827 (D. Md. 2001). It is not necessary that a licensee act with "bad purpose or evil 
motive." Article II Gun Shop, Inc. v. Gonzales, 441 F.3d 492,497-98 (7th Cir. 2006); Prino v. 
Simon, 606 F 2d 449, 451(4th Cir. 1979) ("no showing of malicious intent is necessary" to show 
willfulness). 

The evidence and testimony support the contention that the Licensee understood the 
requirements that it must conduct NICS checks when required, timely and accurately record the 
acquisition and disposition of firearms in the A&D record, timely and accurately report the 
multiple sale of pistols and revolvers, accurately record requiredNlCS information on the ATF 
Form 4473 and ensure that the ATF Form 4473 is accurately completed by the transferee and 
Licensee in all instances. 

As indicated in the Notice of Revocation, ATF previously cited the Licensee for some of the 
same violations as the result of a compliance inspection in 2017. During the 2017 inspection, 
ATF reviewed the federal laws and regulations with the Licensee's Sole Responsible Person, 
Marion Phillip Flack, with which the Licensee is required to comply as a holder of a federal 
firearms license. The review included Marion Phillip Flack signing the acknowledgments 
certifying that all the information was explained to him, any questions were answered, and he 
received a copy of the form. 

Additionally, the Licensee's Sole Responsible Person, Marion Phillip Flack, met with the Area 
Supervisor in a warning conference following the 2017 compliance inspection. In that instance, 
Mr. Flack listened as each of the violations and regulatory requirements were again reviewed and 
explained with him. Mr. Flack also provided ATF with a remedial plan indicating that he would 



implement procedures to ensure that future violations did not occur. Mr. Flack was warned that 
future violations could lead to the loss of the federal firearms license. 

One of the remedial measures Licensee promised to implement in 2018 was an annual inventory 
of firearms. Investigator ...b)(6) testified that Phil Flack told her that he did not conduct 
inventories. During questioning by Counsel for the Government, Phil Flack stated initially that 
he did conduct inventories but acknowledged only doing "spot checks" when pressed on the 
matter. 

Counsel for the Government questioned Phil Flack about the l (b)(3)(112PublicLaw55125 Slut 552) i firearms 

missing at the conclusion of the compliance inspection that began in May 2021. Mr. Flack 
testified that a Taurus 63 firearm reported missing after the inspection was located on April 3, 
2022. When asked to clarify that a firearm reported missing almost a year earlier had been in the 
Licensed premises the entire time, Phil Flack testified that, "it was squirreled away somewhere" 
in his shop. 

A review of Licensee's A&D record introduced by the Government demonstrates that Licensee 
periodically logged the acquisition and disposition of firearms accurately and timely. It is evident 
that Licensee's failures to do so on numerous occasions demonstrates plain indifference to its 
known responsibilities. 

A federal firearms licensee has a duty to be cognizant of the rules and regulations issued by ATF 
and to follow those mandates. It was apparent that the Licensee, who was a veteran firearms 
dealer, knew and understood his responsibilities, and was repeatedly advised of the 
responsibilities, and periodically complied with the GCA, yet was plainly indifferent to the 
firearms laws and regulations. See CEWProps v. United States DOJ, 979 F.3d at 1279-1281 
(veteran FFL who had been trained by ATF regarding compliance with GCA and periodically 
complied with GCA was plainly indifferent to these responsibilities when he violated the GCA); 
Simpson v. AG United States, 913 F.3d at 114-15 (same). 

I find that Licensee willfully violated 18 U.S.C. § 922(t) and 27 CFR § 478.102(c) when it failed 
to initiate a new NICS background check for a transferee after 30 days had lapsed since a prior 
NICS check was conducted. 

I find that Licensee willfully violated 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(l)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.124(c)(1) 
when it failed to ensure that the transferee correctly recorded the required information onthe 
ATF Form 4473. 

I find that Licensee willfully violated 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(l )(A)and 27 C.F.R. §§ 478.21 a when 
it failed to ensure that the ATF Form 4473 was complete and accurate as required prior to 
transferring a firearm. 



I find that Licensee willfully violated 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(1)(A) and27 C.F.R. § 478.123(b) when 
it failed to timely and/or accurately record the disposition of firearms to a licensee in its 
Acquisition and Disposition Record. 

I find that Licensee willfully violated 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(1)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.123(d) when 
it failed to timely and/or accurately record the acquisition and disposition of firearms to a 
nonlicensee in its Acquisition and Disposition Record. I further find that Licensee's willful 
violation resulted in Licensee's inability to account for the disposition of at least -- -_~-•~-=--a--- -

L._._._._._._._._._._ 

firearms requiring the filing of a theft/loss report. 

I find that Licensee willfully violated 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(1)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.123(a) when 
it failed to timely andi or accurately record the Manufacture or acquisition of firearms in its 
Acquisition and Disposition Record. 

I find that Licensee violated 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(3)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.126a when it failed to 
report the multiple sales or other dispositions ofpistols or revolvers in _ _ _ _ _ j instance; however, 
I do not find the violation to be willful. 

I find that Licensee willfully violated 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(1)(A) and27 C.F.R. § 478.124(c)(3)(i) 
when it failed to verity and record identification documents on the ATF Form 4473. 

I find that Licensee violated 18 U.S.C. § 923(g)(1)(A) and 27 C.F.R. § 478.124(c)(3)(iv) when it 
failed to document NICS information on the ATF Form 4473 in _j instance; however, I do 
not find the violation to be willful. 

As such, I conclude that the Licensee willfully violated the provisions of the Gun Control Act, as 
amended, and the regulations issued thereunder. Accordingly, as provided by 18 U.S.C. § 923(e) 
and 27 C.F.R. § 478.73, the Federal firearms license held by Tumbleweed Enterprises, Inc., 
doing business as P.F. Custom Guns, is hereby REVOKED. 
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